#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JUAN JOSE LUNA,

Appellant,

VS.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

**Electronically Filed** Sep 20 2021 08:20 a.m. CASE NO. 82792 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court County of Elko, State of Nevada The Honorable Alvin R. Kacin, District Judge

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MATTHEW PENNELL	AARON D. FORD
Elko County Public Defender	Nevada Attorney General
569 Court Street	100 North Carson Street
Elko, NV 89801	Carson City, NV 89701
NV Bar Number 89801	NV Bar Number 11543

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The District Court entered its judgment of conviction on March 18, 2021. *Joint Appendix ("JA")* 218. The Appellant filed notice of appeal on April 14, 2021. *JA* 221. Since Appellant filed the notice of appeal within thirty (30) days from the entry of the written judgment, notice of appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(b)(1)(A).

NRS 277.015(3) provides this Court with jurisdiction to review the judgment of conviction that Juan Jose Luna ("Mr. Luna") now appeals.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case involves a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict. *JA* 218. Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2)(A), a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict from a Category A felony is exempt from presumptive assignment to the Nevada Court of Appeals. As such, this case is presumptively assigned to the Supreme Court's routing discretion. Mr. Luna has no objection to this case being assigned to the Court of Appeals.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues on appeal in the present case are: (1) whether the District Court erred in holding that Mr. Luna was subject to a lawful detention; (2) whether the District Court erred in holding that Mr. Luna was subject to a lawful pat down search; and (3) whether the District Court erred in holding that Mr. Luna's vehicle was subject to a lawful search.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed the criminal information against Mr. Luna on February 18, 2020, charging him with the following: Count 1: Trafficking in a Schedule 1 Controlled Substance, a Category A Felony; Count 2: Trafficking in a Schedule 1 Controlled Substance, a Category A Felony; and Count 3: Possession of a Controlled Substance, a Category E Felony. JA 008. The alleged acts occurred on or about January 19, 2020. Id. Mr. Luna filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence for the methamphetamine, drug paraphernalia, and firearms that were illegally obtained on July 10, 2020. JA 088. The State opposed the motion on July 20, 2020. JA 123. The District Court denied Mr. Luna's Motion to Suppress on August 18, 2020. JA 182. The trial commenced on December 15, 2020. After the conclusion of evidence, the jury convicted Mr. Luna on all counts. JA 218. On Count 1, Trafficking in a Schedule 1 Controlled Substance, the District Court sentenced Mr. Luna to 10-25 years imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections with credit for four-hundredand-twenty-two (422) days served; on Count 2, Trafficking in a Schedule 1 Controlled Substance, the District Court sentenced Mr. Luna to 10-25 years imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections with credit for zero (0) days served; and on Count 3, Possession of a Controlled Substance, the District Court sentenced Mr. Luna to 19-48 months imprisonment in the Nevada Department of

20

1

2

3

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

Corrections with credit for zero (0) days served. *Id*. With all sentences running concurrently. *Id*.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Around 11:20 p.m. on January 19, 2020, Officer John Trice ("Trice") of the Elko County Police Department and Officer Jason Bringhurst ("Bringhurst") of the Nevada Highway Patrol were parked in separate cars monitoring the stop sign on US 93 and 6<sup>th</sup> Street in Wells, Nevada. *JA* 37:11-12. Across the parking lot from where Trice and Bringhurst were parked was the Sinclair ("Petro") station. During the hour that Trice and Bringhurst were located in the parking lot, they never noticed an idle vehicle parked at the Petro. *JA* 38:16-25.

At 11:45 p.m., Jacob Elmore ("Mr. Elmore"), a Petro employee, arrived at the Petro for work. *JA* 154:12:24-25; 155:13:1-19. When Mr. Elmore got to work, the manager, Jennifer Gardner ("Ms. Gardner"), stated that she had observed a vehicle at a gas pump for 45 minutes. *Id*. Ms. Gardner made no made contact with the vehicle prior to Mr. Elmore arriving at work. *JA* 156:17:21-23.

At about midnight, Mr. Elmore went outside to the passenger side window at Ms. Gardner's request. *JA* 155:14:4-11. Ms. Gardner testified that upon Mr. Elmore's return, Mr. Elmore stated that he told the passenger inside the vehicle to move. *JA* 155:14:16-19. After a few minutes Ms. Gardner looked to see if the vehicle was still at the pump and noticed that there were police officers right across the street.

JA 155:15:3-13. After Ms. Gardner got off work, she went across the street to Trice and Bringhurst to report that a vehicle had been at the gas pump "for a little while" and did not vacate upon request by an employee. JA 155:15:16-18; 39:2-6. Ms. Gardner stated the vehicle had been sitting there for about an hour and a half and that they were "kinda weird, too...we couldn't tell what the driver was doing." JA 183:1-4. Ms. Gardner "asked [the officers] to please come remove the car from the island." JA 155:15:16-18. Trice interpreted Ms. Gardner's request of 'I just want them moved along' to mean that the vehicle "was trespassing and to have them leave the property" as a whole. JA 157:24:13-19. Ms. Gardner did not want the occupants to be arrested for trespassing, but simply for them to move off the pump. JA 156:22-23.

Trice and Bringhurst both drove over to the Petro station without police lights on and parked side-by-side behind the stopped vehicle. *JA* 39:10-16. Trice then illuminated the back of the sedan with the patrol vehicle's headlights and white lights. *JA* 40:11-22. Trice testified that there were also multiple lit fluorescent bulbs on the overhead canopy illuminating the area where the vehicle was parked. *JA* 40:11-22. Trice testified that he ran a routine traffic stop style approach on the vehicle, which included running the vehicle's Idaho license plate. *JA* 39:12-13; 41:4-6. Trice approached the vehicle and noticed that the individual in the driver's seat, who was eventually identified as Mr. Luna, was in a position that looked like he was

sleeping in the seat. *JA* 44:1-3. During the Preliminary Hearing, Trice testified that at this point of initial approach, he considered himself to have detained Mr. Luna. *JA* 059:7-20.

Q: Okay. So when you approach Mr. Luna, upon that approach, Mr. Luna's being detained, correct? *JA* 59:15-16.

A: You could say that. JA 59:17.

Q: Okay. I want to know an actual fact. Was he detained? JA 59:18-19.

A: Yes. JA 59:20.

During the detention, Trice knocked on the driver side window then announced himself to both Mr. Luna and the passenger in the vehicle. *JA* 41:5-7. Mr. Luna rolled down the window and a brief discussion between Trice and Mr. Luna occurred, during which Trice asked if Mr. Luna had a driver's license. *JA* 41:25. Mr. Luna stated that he did not have a driver's license on his person, but provided Trice with an Idaho identification card which Trice had Elko dispatch run. *JA* 42:1-14. During this time, Trice testified that Mr. Luna was lethargic and slow to speak and that he believed Mr. Luna was fatigued and appeared to be sleepy. *JA* 43:9-13.

Elko dispatch informed Trice of an outstanding warrant for Mr. Luna and shortly after mentioned that Mr. Luna had a prior drug history and was known to carry a weapon. JA 44:18-20. Trice then told Mr. Luna to shut off the vehicle, put his hands on the steering wheel, and step out of the vehicle, where Trice immediately placed Mr. Luna in handcuffs. JA 43:9-24. Mr. Luna was cooperative during the entire procedure. JA 60:21-22. Trice testified that he was unaware of whether Mr. Luna was armed or

dangerous at the time. JA 60:18-19. Trice performed a pat down search of Mr. Luna for weapons before obtaining any information regarding the warrant. JA 46:24-25; 47:1-7. Trice found what he believed to be a smoking device used for methamphetamine. JA 163:45:19-25.

Prior to Mirandizing Mr. Luna, Trice asked Mr. Luna "if that was a meth pipe" *JA* 48:16-24. After a conversation, Trice stated that he placed Mr. Luna under arrest for possession of drug paraphernalia. *JA* 49:5-8. Once Trice secured Mr. Luna in the patrol car, Trice received notice that the warrant for Mr. Luna was active. *JA* 49:15-19. Trice then searched Mr. Luna's vehicle and found a green bag under the driver's seat. *JA* 51:20-24. Trice believed the bag smelled of heroin and then opened the bag. *JA* 52:6-15. Inside the green bag were six smaller bags: one bag of cocaine, one bag of methamphetamine, and four bags of heroin. *JA* 185:10-13. Trice then subsequently stopped the search and sealed the vehicle while a search warrant could be obtained. *JA* 185:14-15.

After a search warrant was obtained, the vehicle was unsealed and a shotgun was found in the trunk of the vehicle. *JA* 185:13-15. A jury later convicted Mr. Luna of two counts of Trafficking in a Schedule 1 Controlled Substance and one count of Possession of a Controlled Substance. *JA* 218.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 18 of the Nevada State Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures of persons and their houses, papers, and effects. Reasonableness is the touchstone of the Fourth Amendment, measured in objective terms through close examination of the totality of the circumstances. *Ohio v. Robinette*, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996). Trice violated Mr. Luna's Fourth Amendment rights when he illegally seized Mr. Luna, searched Mr. Luna's person without cause, and unlawfully searched Mr. Luna's vehicle. Consequently, the District Court committed reversable error by denying the defense's Motion to Suppress the illegally obtained evidence: the narcotics, drug paraphernalia, and the firearm.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review

On appeal, a district court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo while its factual findings are to be reviewed for clear error. *Somee v. State*, 124 Nev. 434, 441 (2008). A factual finding will be upheld only if it is supported by "substantial evidence." *State v. Harnish*, 113 Nev. 214, 219 (1997).

# B. The District Court Committed Reversable Error by Holding that Mr. Luna's Detainment was Lawful.

In its order, the District Court ruled that the initial encounter between Trice and Mr. Luna was a lawful detention under the Fourth Amendment. *JA* 186:7-9. The Fourth Amendment requires search and seizures to be reasonable, which

"strikes a balance between the public interest and the individual's right to personal security free from arbitrary interference by law officers." *State v. Rincon*, 122 Nev. 1170 (2006). The District Court emphasized that an officer may stop a person and conduct a brief investigation when the officer has a reasonable, articulable suspicion that criminal activity is taking place or about to take place. *JA* 186:10-12. An individual is considered detained by the police when, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would not have believed they were free to leave. *State v. Stinnett*, 104 Nev. 398, 401 (1988).

In this case, Trice, himself, testified that he detained Mr. Luna, prohibiting him from leaving the scene. *JA* 059:7-20. Regardless of Trice's believed detainment, a reasonable person would not have believed they were free to leave in view of the totality of the circumstances. *State v. Sinnett*, 104 Nev. 398 (1988). He also testified that Mr. Luna was, in fact, detained: two police vehicles pulled up behind Mr. Luna's parked car and approached both sides of the vehicle and began to question the occupants. *JA* 41:4-7. If "the occupants tried to leave, no doubt Deputy Trice would have informed them otherwise." *JA* 126:27-28.

The District Court found that the detention was proper as there was "preponderating evidence that Trice had such a reasonable articulable suspicion" based on two theories. *JA* 186:7-9;13. First, the District Court found that Mr. Luna had committed an unlawful trespass on the Petro property under NRS 207.200. *JA* 

186:10-25. Under the relevant sections of the Nevada trespassing statute, NRS 207.200 states:

"(1) Unless a greater penalty is provided pursuant to NRS 200.603, any person who, under circumstances not amounting to a burglary:

- (a) Willfully goes or remains upon any land or in any building after having been warned by the owner or occupant thereof not to trespass, is guilty of a misdemeanor. The meaning of this subsection is not limited by subsections 2 and 4.
- (2) A sufficient warning against trespassing, within the meaning of this section, is given by any of the following methods:
  - (e) By the owner or occupant of the land or building making an oral or written *demand* to any guest to vacate the land or building" (emphasis added).

In its opposition, the State argued there was reasonable suspicion Mr. Luna violated the Wells trespass code, which has a lower standard to establish trespassing, and states: any person unlawfully on the land of another who after verbal or written *communication* by the owner or possessor of the land that the person is not to enter or remain upon the land continues to be on the land is considered trespassed. *Wells City Code 7-1-6(H)*, (emphasis added). Further, in its order, the District Court found that Trice had reasonable, articulable suspicion that Mr. Luna committed criminal activity, as it is a misdemeanor for any person to *willfully* remain upon the land of another after having been warned by the owner not to trespass. *JA*187:10-19.

Contrary to the State's and the District Court's belief, Mr. Luna was never provided a warning as required in NRS 207.200(2) or the Wells City Code to vacate the Petro. Under the relevant subsections of NRS 207.200(2)(e), a sufficient warning against trespassing can be found through an oral or written *demand* to any guest to vacate the land or building. (Emphasis added). While *Scott* allows an owner's employee to trespass a guest, that employee must still make an oral or written demand or communication for the guest to vacate. *Scott v. State*, 110 Nev. 622 (1994).

Ms. Gardner testified that she intended for the vehicle to merely move off the fuel island and to free up the spot for someone to use the pump. When she sent Mr. Elmore out to speak with the vehicle's occupants, she did not intend for Mr. Luna to vacate the entire Petro property. *JA* 155:14:6-7. The request by the Petro employee was neither an oral demand or communication to vacate the land, building, or premises as required by NRS 207.200, Wells City Code, or *Scott*. Instead, this was an invitation for Mr. Luna to stay at the Petro station, but in a different location on Petro's land.

Mr. Elmore's comment was also not directed at Mr. Luna, but rather at the vehicle's passenger. *JA* 156:14:16-19. Mr. Elmore approached the passenger side of the vehicle and spoke with the passenger, a blond female. *Id.* Mr. Elmore did not report that he spoke to the driver, Mr. Luna. *Id.* Ms. Gardner testified that she

couldn't see what the driver, Mr. Luna, was doing. JA 183:3. Trice testified that upon approaching the vehicle, the driver, Mr. Luna, appeared to be sleeping. JA 44:1-3. Mr. Luna could not have willfully remained on the premises if he was unaware that an oral demand or communication had ever been made for him to vacate. Similar to Virginia v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164 (2008), Trice should not have arrested Mr. Luna for trespassing, but rather should have provided Mr. Luna with a criminal trespass warning and given Mr. Luna the opportunity to vacate the premises.<sup>1</sup>

As stated, Ms. Gardner never wanted Mr. Luna to be arrested for trespassing, but simply for Mr. Luna to move away from the fuel pump. *JA* 30:22-23; 31:22-23. It can be inferred by the lack of intention to trespass Mr. Luna that Ms. Gardner nor Mr. Elmore gave a trespass warning, yet Trice—on his own volition—interpreted Ms. Gardner's request of "wanting them moved along" to mean that Mr. Luna was trespassed. *JA* 35:13-19. Absent the oral demand or communication for Mr. Luna to vacate the premises, Trice did not have reasonable, articulable suspicion that a crime—trespassing—was being committed. Further, there is a lack of credible evidence regarding whether Mr. Luna willfully remained at the Petro after being

While it can be argued that Trice had cause to initiate a traffic stop based on the community caretaking doctrine, that doctrine makes it a duty for police officers to "aid drivers who are in distress" which "may arise if a police officer observes circumstances indicative of a medical emergency or automotive malfunction. *State v. Rincon*, 122 Nev. 1170 (2006). That is not applicable here.

warned, and Ms. Gardner never intended for a trespass to even occur. Therefore, Trice did not have the proper foundation to initially detain Mr. Luna for trespassing pursuant to NRS 207.200, the Wells City Code, or *Scott*.

Second, the District Court found that Ms. Gardner's tip provided Trice with reasonable, articulable suspicion that a crime was occurring, even if the informant was not credible, as it was corroborated by independent police surveillance. *JA* 197:15-21. In its order, the District Court, erred in its belief as Mr. Luna's case does not meet the requirements of trespass under NRS 207.200. Even if it did, it would not have provided Trice with reasonable, articulable suspicion, as Ms. Gardner's tip was unreliable and uncorroborated by police surveillance.

Not only did the District Court believe that this arrest complied with Nevada law, but the District Court reasoned that a "tip corroborated by independent police surveillance and information may establish probable cause even where nothing is known about [the] informant's credibility." *JA* 187:15-21.

However, the District Court's broad interpretation of NRS 171.124 is irrelevant here because Ms. Gardner's tip was not corroborated by independent police surveillance. Trice and Bringhurst had been watching the street in front of the Petro for an hour, but could not articulate how long Mr. Luna's vehicle was there for. *JA* 38:20-25. Neither Trice or Bringhurst testified at any point that they

witnessed a Petro employee approach the vehicle and ask Mr. Luna to vacate the premises.

Generally, a police officer may "detain any person whom the officer encounters under circumstances which reasonably indicate that the person has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime" NRS 171.123(1); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). In order to detain someone, the officer cannot rely on an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch, but rather must have reasonable, articulable suspicion, consisting of a particularized and objective justification for suspecting a person of criminal activity. Terry, 392 U.S. 1, 27; United States. v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266 (2002).

Contrary to the District Court's belief, there is no reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Luna without the corroborated tip of a reliable informant. To determine reliability, the Court must look at the totality of the circumstances, including: the reliability of the informant, whether the information exhibits sufficient indicia of reliability, whether it is suitably corroborated, and whether it is reliable in its assertion of illegality, not just in identifying a person. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1983); *McMorran v. State*, 118 Nev. 379, 387 (2002).

An identified citizen informant has a higher level of reliability than an anonymous informant. *Palmieri v. Clark Cnty.*, 131 Nev. 1028, 1052 (2015). If an officer has known the informant for a year and received accurate information from

the informant on previous occasions, the informant is considered sufficiently reliable. *Hamilton v. Sheriff, Elko County*, 92 Nev. 591 (1976). In some instances, courts have considered an informant who identifies themselves as an employee of a business, but does not provide their name or number, to be reliable, as they presumably would not falsify information about a crime being committed due to potential repercussions by their employment. *Edwards v. Cabrera*, 58 F.3d 290, 294 (1995).

This case, however, is different than *Edwards*. Ms. Gardner was not reporting a crime. After Ms. Gardner got off work and approached Trice and Bringhurst, it was not to report a crime being committed, but simply to ask for assistance in getting Mr. Luna to move his vehicle to another location at the Petro station. *JA* 156:22-23; 157:22-23. Ms. Gardner had no reason to believe that her request, whether true or not, could lead to repercussions by her employer. Ms. Gardner testified that the occupants of the vehicle were "kinda weird" even though Ms. Gardner never actually interacted with them. *JA* 156:17:5-6. It is common for reasonable and prudent individuals to exaggerate the truth when they are put into uncomfortable situations. It is common for individuals to want to avoid confrontation with others especially when they are "kinda weird."

In fact, Ms. Gardner never tried to call dispatch when the supposed suspicious activity first began, or even thirty minutes after, or an hour after. JA

156:17:21-23. Pursuant to *Palmieri*, Ms. Gardner did not have the requisite detailed knowledge necessary to be considered a reliable informant. The District Court incorrectly held that any seizure that took place was constitutional and in compliance with Nevada law, as Trice—under the totality of the circumstances—believed that Mr. Luna had committed, was committing, or was about to commit a crime. *JA* 186:24-25, 187:1-2.

It is clear from the facts that Mr. Luna did not trespass under NRS 207.200 nor Well's City Code. Even if the Court decided that Mr. Luna did, in fact trespass, there was not enough evidence to establish reasonable suspicion of the trespass without a credible informant or credible information. The detention was a violation of Mr. Luna's Fourth Amendment rights. Thus, the District Court erred when it determined that Trice did not violate Mr. Luna's Fourth Amendment rights.

# C. The District Court Committed Reversable Error by Holding that Mr. Luna was Subject to a Lawful Pat Down Search.

The District Court ruled that Trice had the authority to frisk Mr. Luna and recover the pipe because Trice had probable cause to arrest Mr. Luna for trespass. *JA* 187:22-25. In the alternative, the District Court stated that, had Trice lacked probable cause for an arrest for trespass, the frisk was still valid under NRS 171.123. *JA* 187:28; 188:1-2. The District Court found that, through the collective knowledge of all the officers, Trice could infer that Mr. Luna may be armed and dangerous. Even if applying the collective knowledge doctrine, Trice still did not

have reasonable suspicion to believe that Mr. Luna was presently armed and dangerous.

Warrantless searches are, per se, unreasonable, subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions. *Hughes v. State*, 116 Nev. 975, 979 (2000). The District Court relied on *State v. Greenwald*, 109 Nev. 808, 810 (1993), when finding that Trice had the "authority to search incident to arrest derives from need to disarm and prevent any evidence from being concealed or destroyed." *JA* 187:27-28. The United States Supreme Court justified such authority to ensure the officer's safety and to preserve evidence on the suspect's person for later use at trial. *United States v. Robinson*, 414 U.S. 218, 234 (1973).

If Trice was arresting Mr. Luna for trespass, what evidence was Trice looking for to safeguard for later use at trial? An officer may search an individual if the officer had reasonable grounds to believe that the individual was armed and dangerous. *Terry*, 392 U.S. 1; *NRS 171.1232*. Such reasonable belief must be based on specific articulable facts that warrant the search and seizure. *Somee v. State*, 124 Nev. 434 (2008). The officer need not be absolutely certain the individual is armed, but whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would believe that their safety or that of others was in danger. *Rice v. State*, 113 Nev. 425, 430 (1997).

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