1		
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF	F THE STATE OF NEVADA
3		Electronically Filed Oct 25 2021 11:17 a.m.
4	JUAN JOSE LUNA,	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
5	Appellant,	
6		ASE NO.82792
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
8	Respondent.	
9		
10	Appeal From The Fourth Of The State	
11	In And For The C	
12	RESPONDENT'S AN	SWERING BRIEF
13	THE HONORABLE AARON D. FORI	
14	100 N. CARSON STREET CARSON CITY, NV 89701	
15	Tyler J. Ingram	Megan Ortiz
16	Elko County District Attorney's Office 540 Court Street, 2 nd Floor	
17	Elko, NV 89801 By: Chad B. Thompson	569 Court St. Elko, NV 89801 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
18	State Bar No. 10248 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT	ATTORNETTOR ATTELLANT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. Deputy Trice's interaction with Luna was lawful.
- 2. The seizure of the methamphetamine pipe from Luna's pants pocket was lawful.
- 3. The search of the car was lawful.

ARGUMENT

Consensual encounters are permissible under the law. State v. Burkholder, 112 Nev. 535, 539 (1996). Neither of the officers initiated a seizure or detainment by turning on their overhead lights to their vehicles. They both walked to the windows of the vehicle. JA p. 38-41, 157-158. Trooper Bringhurst merely observed, and Deputy Trice knocked on the window. JA p. 20-22, 24, 41. Luna unrolled the window and spoke with the officer. Id. The video demonstrates that this was nothing short of a cordial consensual encounter. The district court stated that it "doubts that Luna was so 'seized' for Fourth Amendment purposes." JA p. 186. However, the district court then went on to analyze the case through the lens of the higher standard as if it were a seizure and still found it lawful.

Deputy Trice and Trooper Bringhurst were approached by Jennifer Gardner who needed their assistance to remove a trespasser / loiterer from the business property. JA p. 38-39, 155-156, 182-183. Clearly the officers

18

1

3

2

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

19

may detain someone where there is reasonable suspicion that the person may have committed, is committing or is about to commit a crime. NRS 171.123. That is clearly the case here. The officers do not need proof beyond a reasonable doubt to do so, but merely reasonable suspicion. Jennifer Gardner and her coworker provided all the reasonable suspicion necessary to approach the vehicle with lights flashing, seize the occupants and ascertain their identity for the purposes of a trespass, but the officers didn't even go to that level as they just merely approached and did so in line with a consensual encounter.

The encounter, as seen on the body camera video, is filled with polite discussion. JA p. 152-153; RA p. 1. Deputy Trice asks questions and demands nothing or orders nothing until he has heard that Luna has a warrant for his arrest and that there are many cautions associated with Luna's previous dealings with law enforcement. <u>Id.</u> Upon learning this is when Deputy Trice instructed Luna to turn off the car and place his hands upon the steering wheel and eventually to get out of the car. <u>Id.</u>; JA p. 46-48.

Now Deputy Trice has two items of articulable suspicion, the trespass issue and the warrant for Luna's arrest as alerted to him by dispatch. A third has also arisen via the collective knowledge doctrine when Trooper

Bringhurst finds the paraphernalia on the passenger's lap and pulls her out of the vehicle. Doleman v. State, 107 Nev. 409, 413-414 (1991); JA p. 20-22, 24. A fourth as well has arisen in that both occupants of the vehicle indicate that neither has a valid driver's license and yet they have driven down from Idaho and are headed to Elko from Wells. NRS 483.550; JA p. 41-43, 158, 183. Luna argues much about the "oral or written demand" in the trespassing statute. NRS 207.200. However, he fails to acknowledge that to detain Luna and the passenger under NRS 171.123 and thereby be allowed to ascertain Luna's identity which gave rise to the finding of the warrant, only reasonable suspicion is needed, not proof beyond a reasonable doubt of such a "demand." The State would suggest, however, that by Jennifer Gardner telling the officers the following, as seen on the video:

"We've asked it to move, and they just keep sitting there."

"...been sittin' there for like an hour and a half."

"And we've asked 'em to move, but they will not move. They just keep sittin' there."

"Yeah, they're kinda weird, too. A little bit. She was writin' in a notebook or sum'n and we couldn't tell what the driver was doing."

"So if you would run them off for us, I'd greatly appreciate it,"

there was clearly reasonable suspicion coupled with the fact that the officers could clearly see the vehicle sitting at the pump. JA p. 182-183; RA p. 1, 36. The entire offense is committed in their presence, and they have sufficient

18

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

19

evidence to at least investigate it further under NRS 171.123, but based on the evidence they had, there is probable cause to arrest Luna for trespassing. NRS 171.124.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Luna goes too far in arguing that Jennifer Gardner is an unreliable informant. The district court listened to her testimony at the motions hearing, watched the body camera video of her request to the officers and deemed her credible. JA p. 182-183. That Ms. Gardner as a lay person and may not use such legal buzz words as 'trespass' or 'detain' or 'reasonable suspicion' is of no consequence. Indicating to the officers that Luna and his passenger had been on the fuel island for over an hour, had been asked to move and they still remained and further that they were 'kinda weird,' in layperson parlance is the basic equivalent. If witnesses to a crime are required to articulate legalese in their reports to be deemed credible the State is unaware of any such authority and Luna has cited none. The officers and the court were reasonable in relying on her report to find reasonable suspicion to allow the officers to detain them even though at the outset, this was not a detainment and did not become one until the passenger was viewed with the paraphernalia and Luna was discovered to have a warrant.

Finally, due to the warrant that was outstanding for Luna, even if he was illegally detained, the warrant is a sufficient attenuating intervening

event. Torres v. State, 426 P.3d 604 (Nev. 2018) (We previously reversed the judgment of conviction, holding that the attenuation doctrine stated in Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590, 95 S. Ct. 2254, 45 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1975), did not apply because the discovery of an arrest warrant does not originate in an "act of free will" by the defendant. Torres v. State, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 2, 341 P.3d 652, 658 n.6 (2015). But in Utah v. Strieff, 136 S. Ct. 2056, 2061-63, 195 L. Ed. 2d 400 (2016), the Supreme Court applied Brown's threefactor attenuation test to hold that "the discovery of a valid arrest warrant was a sufficient intervening event to break the causal chain between an unlawful stop and the discovery of drug-related evidence on the defendant's person." The Supreme Court then granted certiorari, vacated our decision, and remanded this case "for further consideration in light of Utah v. Strieff." Nevada v. Torres, 136 S. Ct. 2505, 195 L. Ed. 2d 837 (2016).)

There is simply nothing wrong with the initial detention of Luna. It was legally permissible under the law and what's more, was in fact a consensual encounter up until the point that Deputy Trice started giving Luna commands to turn off the car, put his hands on the steering wheel and the like, but this is only after the discovery of the warrant and the drug paraphernalia with the passenger. JA p. 46-48. Even if the initial detention

of Luna were improper, the existence of the warrant attenuates any improper conduct.

- 2. The pat down search for weapons or contraband by Deputy Trice is governed by an inquiry regarding the totality of the circumstances:
 - "...whether an officer has a reasonable suspicion that the driver and any passengers may be armed and dangerous. This "is a fact-specific inquiry that looks at the totality of the circumstances in light of common sense and practicality." <u>United States v. Tinnie</u>, 629 F.3d 749, 751 (7th Cir. 2011) (internal quotation omitted) (discussing Johnson). Reasonable suspicion is measured by an objective standard. See <u>Ashcroft v. al-Kidd</u>, 563 U.S. 731, 735-36, 131 S. Ct. 2074, 2080, 179 L. Ed. 2d 1149 (2011)."

Cortes v. State, 127 Nev. 505, 511, 260 P.3d 184, 189 (2011).

In this case Deputy Trice was alerted to multiple dangerous cautions about Luna. JA p. 44-45, 184. Luna had been touching the front of his seat or leaning forward touching something on the floorboard near the front of his seat. <u>Id.</u> There was other drug paraphernalia found with the passenger and the defendant of course had not been heeding the trespass warnings and was liable for arrest for the trespass offense and had a warrant for his arrest. JA p. 20-22, 24, 182-183. All of this together clearly gives Deputy Trice reasonable suspicion that Luna "may" be armed and dangerous. It is not necessary that the officer know that the person is armed and dangerous, just a reasonable suspicion that they may be and that exists here.

During the ensuing pat down search for weapons, Deputy Trice did not manipulate the pipe, but rather immediately recognized the shape of the methamphetamine pipe without manipulation and under the "plain feel" doctrine he was justified in removing the pipe. JA p. 46-48, State v. Conners, 116 Nev. 184, 186-87, 994 P.2d 44, 45-46 (2000) (In some instances, however, a police officer conducting a Terry search may seize contraband from the individual where its identification as contraband is "immediately apparent" to the officer. This is analogous to the "plain-view" doctrine, where the officer's means of perception is sight rather than touch. 508 U.S. at 375-376.).

Alternatively, this is a search incident to arrest. Chimel v. California, 395 U.S.752, 762-63 (1969); Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 175-176 (1949); State v. Greenwald, 109 Nev. 808, 810 (1993); Rice v. State, 113 Nev. 425, 429 (1997). That Deputy Trice told Luna that he was only being detained is irrelevant as probable cause existed to arrest him for the trespassing and the warrant and as a co-defendant for the drug paraphernalia found by Trooper Bringhurst with the passenger either as a co-conspirator or principal to the possession of drug paraphernalia. Plus, even if formal arrest has not occurred, if there is probable cause then the search incident to arrest may precede the arrest. Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448, U.S. 98, 111 (1980). As

a search incident to arrest there is no need to go through the "plain feel" doctrine analysis as the officers could search Luna looking for drug paraphernalia similar to what had already been found with the passenger.

There was nothing wrong with the pat down search of Luna resulting in the finding of the pipe in his pocket.

3. The search of the car was lawful. With both occupants under arrest for possessing drug paraphernalia items, the officers had probable cause to search the vehicle further for drugs. "In the automobile-exception context, a police officer who has probable cause to believe the car contains contraband or evidence of a crime must either seize the vehicle while a warrant is sought or search the vehicle without a warrant. Given probable cause, either course is constitutionally reasonable." <u>State v. Lloyd</u>, 129 Nev. 739, 750, 312 P.3d 467, 474 (2013) See <u>Chambers v. Maroney</u>, 399 U.S. 42, 52 (1970).

Luna claims that "exigency" from the <u>State v. Harnisch (Harnisch II)</u>, 114 Nev. 225 (1998) decision and its progenitors is still required, but that simply is not the law in Nevada anymore.

Alternatively, and as these officers did, they could search the vehicle pursuant to an inventory search, which they did and in fact produced an inventory as noted in the exhibits admitted at the motions hearing. JA p. 153-154, 160-162; RA p. 23-26. The District Court did not review this

particular avenue having found that pursuant to <u>Lloyd</u> the officers were justified in searching the vehicle without having to do the analysis for the inventory. Regardless of the District Court's analysis, it is still a valid avenue for the officers to have gotten into the car and found the drugs that eventually led to the conviction. <u>State v. Greenwald</u>, 109 Nev. 808 (1993); Weintraub v. State, 110 Nev. 287 (1994).

Here, Deputy Trice followed the protocols of the policy manual, produced an inventory and found as a result the drugs in the green bag in the front driver's seat floor board. JA p. 153-154, 160-162; RA p. 12-26.

The search of the green bag that was found in the car upon searching the car was entirely lawful.

CONCLUSION

Deputy Trice and Trooper Bringhurst acted lawfully every step of the way in their interaction with Luna and his passenger. The initial encounter was permissible as either a consensual encounter or as a detainment to investigate the trespassing issue. When Luna's identification turned up that he had a warrant and multiple cautions for law enforcement when dealing with him, and Trooper Bringhurst saw the drug paraphernalia that the passenger had, things turned up a notch, to include the ability to search Luna incident to his arrest for the warrant and/or trespass or at least frisk

him for weapons, which is what the officer did. During the pat down search
the pipe was immediately discovered without manipulation. Between the
pipe in Luna's pocket and the other items of drug paraphernalia found by
Trooper Bringhurst, a probable cause search of the vehicle for drugs was
warranted and produced the items for which Luna was prosecuted.
Alternatively, due to his arrest on the warrant and the methamphetamine
pipe and the passenger also being arrested for possession of drug
paraphernalia, the officers could and did search the vehicle pursuant to an
inventory search prior to towing and found the drugs that way as well.
The district court was correct, and the judgment should be affirmed.